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Charity is defined as Church activ ities th a t aim  to “m inim ize and elim i­
nate poverty, to a ss is t  the needy in  becom ing financially  independent and 
further their  personal grow th”1. This type of assistan ce  dates back to the  
beginnings of Christianity, and the first h istorical records m ention ing  charity  
work are found in  the A cts o f the A postles and the letters o f the A postles. 
B eginn ing  from the 4 th  century, a ttem pts w ere m ade to in stitu tion a lize  char­
itable work by opening church-run h osp ita ls and poorhouses. The needy  
received help from brotherhoods and guilds, and as of the 15 th  century, from  
m ounts of piety, in stitu tional pawnbrokers run as a charity. The charitable  
in itia tives th a t had originated before the Council of Trent w ere continued  
through the end o f the 18 th  century, and they  began  to take on a different 
form only in the follow ing century. A lthough church-run hosp ita ls, shelters, 
foundations, donations and grants for the needy w ere still encountered, 
m any countries introduced a system  of sta te  w elfare provision. The Church  
also becam e m ore com m itted to help ing  the needy as part of the new  in stitu ­
tions, m ostly  charity and w elfare organizations. In historiography, th is  body 
of doctrine is  referred to as C atholic social teaching.

In the 19 th  century, W arm ia w as a part o f P ru ssia  w here social services 
were regulated  by the G eneral S tate  Law s for the P ru ssian  S ta tes  o f 1794. 
C itizens who had no relatives, but w ere registered  tax  payers, w ere en titled  
to assistan ce  from their respective province. The others constitu ted  the re­
sponsib ility  o f the sta te , m ostly  through hospices. U n ions and associations of 
the poor run by secular authorities played an im portant role, but they  w ere 
unable to solve all social problem s2 . Charity program s w ere also carried out

1 R. Ł ukaszyk, F. W oronowski, Dobroczynne duszpasterstw o, in: E ncyklopedia kato licka, 
vol. 3, L ublin  1985, col. 1385-1389.

2 W. Schaffer, S taa tliche  N eu o rd n u n g  der A rm enpflege seit A u fk lä ru n g  u n d  S ä k u la r isa ­
tion, in: Geschichte des k irch lichen  Lebens in  den deutschsprachigen L ä n d ern  seit dem  E nde  des 
18. J a h rh u n d erts ,  Bd. 5: C aritas u n d  soziale D ienste, h rsg . E. G atz, F re ib u rg  1997, pp. 43-45 .
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by religious institutions and organizations, but in the 19th  century, most of 
them were created on a local basis in parishes and monasteries3 . The Kul­
turkam pf policy put a temporary halt to the development of such organiza­
tions, but the law of 21 May 1886 reestablished the former role of nuns and 
monks in charity institutions. This legislative change revived hospitals, or­
phanages and care homes, and it fostered the emergence of new initiatives 
which, in the Warmia diocese, were introduced mainly by the Sisters of St. 
Catherine and St. Elizabeth with the support of local parish priests4 .

In Warmia, the beginnings of the 19th  century did not witness spectac­
ular change. All brotherhoods serving the poor were closed down, but hospi­
tals and hospices continued to operate. Most of them faced financial difficul­
ties. In 1772, the possessions of bishops and the Cathedral Chapter were 
confiscated by the Prussian government which went on to seize the property 
of the Collegiate Chapter in Nowe Miasto and Bernardine estates in 1810. 
The Society of Jesus, which was not a major contributor of welfare services 
in the Warmia diocese, was dissolved in 1780. The former principal donors, 
the bishops and the Cathedral Chapter, were no longer able to give financial 
support to all social and charity initiatives. The hospitals financed by the 
Canons fell into decline. At the turn  of the 18th  and 19th  centuries, Olsztyn 
had two hospitals tha t were financed mostly by the Cathedral Chapter in 
Frombork. The leprosy hospital and the Holy Spirit Hospital did not meet 
the new requirements, and they were sold in 1825 and 1872, respectively. 
The West witnessed the emergence of modern, well-equipped hospitals with 
professional medical staff, but Warmia lagged far behind in this regard. New 
epidemics and plagues, economic development and population growth forced 
the local authorities to build new hospitals. This was also the case in Olsztyn. 
A committee of 14 members was thus formed, and it was headed by Baltazar 
Józef Oster, a local pharmacist, member of the city council and the parish 
council. Archpriest Walenty Blockhagen, a highly esteemed member of the cleri­
cal community, a good organizer and a generous donor, also played an important 
role in the committee. The committee’s composition testified to the local 
community’s preference for parish-ran hospitals. This tradition was upheld 
in the draft statute which was forwarded for the approval of Warmia Bishop 
Józef Ambroży Geritz in March 1858. The new hospital was opened in 18675 .

3 E . G atz, K irchliche M itarbeit in  der öffentlichen A rm enpflege. Die N euan fänge  einer 
eigenständigen kirch lichen  A rm enpflege, pp. 57 -58 . In  th e  past, religious brotherhoods, hospices 
an d  o rp hanages h ad  been  operated  m ostly  by parish es , b u t b ishops an d  ch ap te rs  significantly  
con tribu ted  to  th e ir  efforts. In  th e  19 th  century, th ey  m ain ly  in sp ired  and  supervised  charities, 
w hile th e  a c tu a l w ork  w as done by p a rish  p ries ts  an d  m onasteries. D ue to  grow ing costs and 
sm all revenues g en era ted  by g ra n ts  an d  foundations, c h a rity  in itia tiv es  w ere large ly  financed 
by m unic ipal au th o ritie s .

4 R. T raba, N iem cy -  W arm iacy -  Polacy 1871-1914. Z  dziejów  niem ieckiego ruchu  kato lic­
kiego i stosunków  polsko-niem ieckich w P rusach, O lsztyn  1994, p. 112.

5 A. Kopiczko, S zp ita ln ic tw o  w O lsztynie w X I X  i w p ierw sze j połow ie X X  w ieku , in: 
O lsztyn  1353-2003, eds. S. A chrem czyk an d  W. O grodziński, O lsztyn 2003, pp. 242-244.
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A detailed  lis t  of all foundations and charity in stitu tion s ran by local 
p riests w as developed on 14 A ugust 1837, ind icating th a t 26  organizations 
had been  supervised  by the C athedral Chapter. The in itia tives included  
stu d en t scholarships aw arded by the Canons (15), a foundation for the sick  
and needy, the H oly Spirit H ospital in  Frombork, donations for the patients, 
two foundations supporting the needy, including farm ers, B ishop Potocki’s 
foundation in  B raniew o, a hosp ital in  Ś w ięta  Lipka, a fund supporting peo­
ple suffering from an illn ess  or disability, a fund for fire victim s in  Warmia, 
funds for young w om en and endow m ent funds. They w ere followed by chari­
ty  organizations ran by the archdeaconry, including in  O lsztyn, K onigsberg  
and Orneta. The la tter  hosted  the H oly Sprit H ospital and St. George’s 
H ospital, w h ile O lsztyn w as the sea t o f the H oly Spirit H ospital and the  
G em m s Benefice in  B artąg (part o f the O lsztyn archdeaconry). The h ighest 
num ber o f foundations and charity in stitu tion s w ere se t  up in  the Lidzbark  
archdeaconry (which, in  theory, w as still a sea t o f W arm ia’s bishops), includ­
ing the castle hospital for patien ts from the bishop’s palace, a hospital for the  
poor, St. George’s hosp ital, a benefice, two foundations, as w ell as four organ­
izations in  the v illages o f Ignalin  (2 foundations), K raszewo (hospital) and  
B abiak (foundation). The Dobre M iasto archdeaconry operated five charities 
in  the city (including the H oly Spirit H ospital) and two hosp ita ls in  the  
v illages of Św iątk i and E ldyty W ielkie. B raniew o w as the sea t o f four hosp i­
ta ls  o f St. A ndrew ’s, M aasianum , B arschianum  and N ow e M iasto, w hile  
Pien iężno hosted  St. George’s H ospital and three foundations, including  
a fund for unm arried girls. F ive charities each  w ere found in  the archdeacon­
ry o f R eszel and Jeziorany, including two h osp ita ls (one hosp ital for the poor) 
and the F ranciszek  Schm idt foundation for single w om en in  R eszel, and  
a hospital and foundations in  Jeziorany. The Barczewo archdeaconry operat­
ed a hospital in  the city and three h ea lth  in stitu tion s in  the v illages of 
K lebark W ielki, K lew ki and Ram sowo. K önigsberg w as m entioned a t the end  
o f the lis t  as the sea t o f only one foundation for education6 .

The above in stitu tion s and charities had been  created before the 19 th  
century, but they  continued to receive financial support from the Canons of  
the Cathedral Chapter and parishes, testify in g  to the local clergy’s dedica­
tion  to help ing the needy.

In the 19 th  century, the S isters of St. C atherine and St. E lizabeth  parti­
cipated in  the efforts to build m odern hospitals, and they becam e increasingly  
involved in  nursing services. From am ong 15 institu tions erected at the time, 
several were built under the supervision of parish priests. Edward H erm ann, 
the parish priest of B iskupiec R eszelski, later the auxiliary bishop of the 
Warmia diocese, initiated the construction of a hospital in Olsztyn and St. 
Joseph’s Hospital in  Biskupiec Reszelski in  1858. In both institutions, the board

6 A rchive of th e  W arm ia A rchdiocese in  O lsztyn (AAWO), AB J  A 4. The new  h o sp ita l in 
K raszew o w as b u ilt by  th e  local p a rish  p riest, P io tr Krieger. -  A. K ranich , Kirche u n d  K irch ­
spiel Reichenberg. E in  G edenkblatt zu m  50jährigen P riesterjub iläum  des P farrers A . H osm ann  
1853-1903 , B rau n sb erg  1903, p. 33.
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of directors w as headed by parish priests. St. Joseph’s H ospital had 40 beds 
and a chapel, and the patients were nursed by the S isters of St. C atherine7.

The legacy handed down by Am broży Kam pfsbach, the parish  priest of 
Tolkowiec, enabled the construction o f the M arian H ospital in  Braniewo  
(1863) w hich w as run by the local archdeaconry. K am pfsbach purchased  
a house and a garden near the Frombork Gate, and the esta te  w as later  
transform ed into a hospital. The facility  w as expanded in  1865, 1879, 1880 
and 1 8 8 1 -1 8 8 2 . In 1 8 6 3 -1 8 8 7 , p a tien ts  w ere nursed  by the S isters  of 
St. Borrom eus who w ere later replaced by the S isters of St. Catherine. The 
hospital w as supervised  by the curia headed by the local archpriest8.

The Cathedral Canons w ere in  charge of St. Joseph’s H ospital in  From­
bork w hich w as rebuilt in  1805 and expanded in  1855. The hospital could 
accommodate 16 pensioners. The patients were nursed by the S isters of St. 
C atherine and treated by physicians from Frombork9. The archpriests of D o­
bre M iasto ran a hospital by the sam e nam e in the city. The first building w as  
erected in the 17th century, but it  proved to be too sm all, and a new  facility  
w as built in  1878 in  the vicinity o f St. N icholas’ church. In 1892, the hospital 
underw ent yet another expansion schem e, and it  w as provided w ith  a chapel 
six  years later. M edical care w as provided by the local doctors, and nursing  
services w ere offered by the S isters o f St. C atherine10. The M arian H ospital in  
Malbork w hich w as opened in  1866 also proved to be too sm all to accommodate 
the growing needs for medical services, and a reconstruction effort began in  
1896. A chapel w as added, and the building w as merged w ith  the Holy Spirit 
Hospital. The Sisters of St. Vincent de Paul were the hospital’s nursing staff 
until the end of World War I.11 St. George’s H ospital in  Pieniężno, built in  the 
17th century, w as refurbished in  1887-1888 and adapted to modern medical 
standards. It continued to be operated by the parish, and the patients rem ained  
in  the care of local physicians and the S isters o f St. Catherine (1888)12.

Edward Stock, the parish  priest o f Barczewo in  1869-1889 , bought in  
1889 a house w hich w as turned into St. A nthony’s H ospital. The dem and for 
m edical care soon outgrew  the hosp ita l’s capabilities, and in  1901, Barcze- 
wo’s new  parish  priest, Jan  H irschberg, ordered the construction of a new  
building. The project w as com pleted in  1903. The new  hospital had two 
operating th eaters, surgery preparation facilities, a sterilization  room and  
a bath. The hospital rem ained parish  property, and its  s ta ff com prised two 
doctors and six  S isters o f St. C atherine13.

7 R. Tfeichert, Geschichte der S ta d t Bischofsburg, B ischofsburg 1935, p. 105; J . Steinki, 
Katholische Caritas u n d  katholisches Vereinswesen in der Diözese E rm land , B raunsberg  1931, p. 22.

8 Ibidem , p. 23.
9 Ibidem , p. 35.

10 Ibidem , pp. 24-25.
11 Ibidem , pp. 27-28.
12 Ibidem , p. 28.
13 Ibidem , p. 29; A. Kopiczko, D uchow ieństw o katolickie diecezji w a rm iń skie j w latach  

1821-1945, p a r t  2: S łow nik , O lsztyn  2003, pp. 278-279.
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Jan  B riese, the parish  priest o f O rneta, w as also deeply com m itted to 
charity work. H aving assum ed  pastoral responsib ilities in  1896, he becam e  
a m em ber o f the P russian  Landtag. In 1879, he organized celebrations com ­
m em orating the 500 th  jubilee o f the parish  in  Orneta. B riese b u ilt St. E lisa ­
beth’s H ospital in  the city and started  a foundation by the sam e nam e. 
Funds w ere donated by a fem ale resident o f Karkajm y by the la st  nam e of 
von Shau. The first part o f the new  build ing w as put into u se  in  1875, and  
the entire hosp ital w as expanded in  1899 to accom m odate 70 p atients. N u rs­
ing  services w ere provided by the S isters of St. C atherine14 .

In the 19 th  century, the W arm ia diocese w as deeply com m itted to caring  
for children, in  particular orphans. A lthough orphan care w as the dom ain of  
nuns (the S isters o f St. V incent, St. C atherine and St. E lisabeth), the clergy  
readily offered their  assistan ce , and care centers w ere often estab lish ed  in  
local parishes. The ach ievem ents o f St. Joseph’s orphanage in  Lidzbark  
W arm iński deserve special m ention. The facility  w as opened in  1859 by 
W arm ia Bishop Józef Geritz, a d istingu ished  supporter of charity in itia tives. 
In 1851, Geritz donated 4,000 thalers to a church in  K widzyn and 10,000  
thalers to a m ission in  the diaspora. Three years later, he gave financial 
support to a girls’ school in  Jeziorany (1,000 thalers). H is contribution fostered  
the reconstruction of the former bishops’ castle in  Lidzbark W armiński in  
1859, w hich w as turned into an orphanage for 160 children aged 2 to 15 years. 
The bishop in itially  donated 25,000 m arks to the project, expanding h is contri­
bution by a further 10,000 and 6,000 thalers in  January and M arch of 1863. 
The Cathedral Chapel w as placed in  charge of the orphanage, and it appointed  
two curators for the job. Pastoral care w as provided by chaplains, and the  
orphanage received financial support from m any m em bers of the clergy15.

A ntoni Arendt, head  o f the Teaching Sem inar in  B raniew o, pioneered  
a project for teach ing  d eaf children. In 1845, he opened a sm all school for 
hearing-im paired stu d en ts in  Braniew o. A sim ilar in itia tive  w as launched in  
R eszel in  188116 . The local archpriest, P aw el Rom ahn, also contributed to 
the cause by creating the W arm ian Society for H elp ing the Deaf. H e w as 
assisted  in  h is work by vicar E ugen iusz B rachvogel17 .

N ew  foundations for the poor w ere started  in  the 19 th  century by Canons 
Jan  F eyerstein  (1888), R udolf Borow ski (15 April 1888, a facility  for im pover­

14 J .  S teinki, K atholische C aritas u n d  katholisches Vereinswesen in  der Diözese E rm la n d ,  
pp. 29 -31 ; A. Kopiczko, D uchow ieństw o kato lickie diecezji w a rm iń skie j w la tach  1821-1945, 
p a r t  2: S ło w n ik , p. 38.

15 The list h a s  been published in  Katalog duchowieństwa katolickiego w diecezji w arm ińskiej 
(do 1945 roku), p. 92. cf. D as S t. Josephi-S tift in  H eilsberg 1859-1933, H eilsberg 1933, p. 15nn.

16 Cf. A. Steinki, Katholische Caritas u n d  katholisches Vereinswesen in der Diözese E rm land, 
pp. 82-84; A. A rendt also bequeathed funds to hospitals and  charities (including 11,000 m arks for 
B raniewo and around 355 m arks in  annuities for Orneta). -  E rm ländisches K irchenblatt, 1936, 
p. 247; F. Buchholz, B ilder aus W ormditts Vergangenheit, 2nd ed., W orm ditt 1931, p. 130.

17 Ibidem , p. 24; J . S teinki, K atholische C aritas u n d  katholisches Vereinswesen in  der  
Diözese E rm la n d , pp. 82-83.
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ish ed  m aidens and w idows) and Józef N eum ann who estab lished  an endow ­
m ent fund o f 4 ,500 m arks for elderly w om en in  B isztynek , donated 7,500  
m arks to the purchase o f F irst C om m union supplies and 3,000 m arks to St. 
Joseph’s orphanage in  Lidzbark W arm iński. E xten sive support w as also pro­
vided by W arm ia’s bishops, in  particular Andrzej S. H atten , Józef Geritz 
(ordained before 1821) and Andrzej Thiel. U pon learn ing th a t som e children  
from the poorest fam ilies could not afford a hot m eal a t school, Thiel ordered  
th a t 30 m eals be served every day at h is expense. H e donated 565 m arks, 
raised  during celebrations o f h is 80th birthday, to a church construction  
project in  Orzechowo near O lsztyn18. H e also gave financial support to the  
reconstruction o f a hosp ital in  R eszel in  1897. Canon Karol D iters von D it­
tersdorf m ade a bequest to a m onastery school in  B raniew o19.

W arm ia’s parish  priests also m ade frequent d isp lays o f generosity. Georg 
M atern m entioned  a num ber o f benefactors, am ong them  fathers Franciszek  
A usten , P iotr B aranow ski, K azim ierz Koitka, Jan  Neubauer, Jan  P u lta  and  
Józef S etta  (who m ade a bequest o f 1,500 m arks to single  w om en in  B isz­
tynek), adding th a t the lis t  w as incom plete20. F ather Jan  Szadow ski pur­
chased property in  W ielbark w here he started  an orphanage for P olish  chil- 
dren21. Father D om inik Wobbe created a tru st for the upkeep o f two children  
in  St. Joseph’s orphanage in  Lidzbark W arm iński22. Father A ntoni Paschke  
estab lish ed  a m ortgage bond o f 7,000 th a lers in  h is  w ill, and the funds were 
to be divided equally  betw een  the S isters o f St. Borrom eus (S isters o f Mercy) 
in  Braniew o and the C athedral Chapter in  aid o f the poor in  E a st and W est 
P ru ssia23. F ath er J ó zef Teschner w as also a generous donor who built 
churches in  Pasym  and K lebark W ielki, as w ell as two churches in  O lsztyn in  
the 20th century24. The lis t  w ould not be com plete w ithout father Feliks  
Schreiber who in itia ted  the Copernicus Catholic H om e project in  O lsztyn  
and personally participated in  construction w orks25.

18 AAWO, O lsztyn  935 (13 O ctober 1906); E. Poschm ann , Der K reis Rößel. E in  ost­
preußisches H eim atbuch , 3 rd  ed., K altenk irche /H o lste in  1991, p. 300.

19 A. Kopiczko, D uchow ieństw o katolickie diecezji w a rm iń skie j w la tach  1525-1821, p a r t  2: 
S ło w n ik , O lsztyn 2000, p. 54.

20 G. M atern , Die ka tho lischen  W ohlthätigkeits-A nsta lten  u n d  -Vereine sowie da s k a th o ­
lisch-soziale Vereinsleben in  der Diözese E rm la n d , F re ib u rg  1900, pp. 47-49 .

21 T. Grygier, Z  zagadn ień  diaspory na  W arm ii i M azurach , KMW, 1959, No. 2, p. 171.
22 D as S t. Jo sep h i-S tift in  H eilsberg 1859-1933, p. 21.
23 AAWO, AB, H  295e (P resb y te ri in  C rossen), p. 40.
24 Cf. W. B arczew ski, K ierm asy na  W arm ii i inne p ism a  w ybrane, ed. W. Ogrodziński,

O lsztyn  1984, p. 162.
25 M any  p ries ts  financed th e  construction  of new  churches in  M azury. F in an cia l g ran ts  

supporting  th e  construction  of a  sh rine  in  P ra b u ty  w ere m ade by  M arcin  B eh lau  of Sątopy, 
Adolf K euchel of Dobre M iasto, F e rd y n an d  E ngelb rech t of Glotowo an d  P io tr B aranow ski of 
Tychnowy. -  E rm länd ische  Volksblätter, 17 F eb ru a ry  1874. L ists of th e  clergy who supported  
churches in  M azury  w ere published  by P astora lb la tt fü r  die Diözese E rm la n d  a f te r  collections 
organized by th e  St. A d albert A ssociation and  th e  St. B ru n o n  Association. J a n  Oswald, a  pro­
fessor a t  th e  H osianum  Secondary School, beq u ea th ed  15,000 m ark s to p ries ts  in  m ission
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O ther aid projects in itia ted  by W arm ia’s clergy in  the 19 th  century were 
a continuation  o f charity traditions from the previous centuries, and they  
included scholarships. E ducational support w as a priority goal in  the charity  
work o f bishops, the C athedral Chapter and parish  clergy. Several scholar­
ship schem es from the previous centuries had been  preserved, m ostly the  
tru sts and funds created by Frombork C anons Jan  Preuck2 6 , K azim ierz  
M ichał D ąbrow ski, P aw eł D om inik Drommler, J a n  H annow a, E ustachy Kno­
belsdorf, M ichał K onarski, Jan  Kreczmer, Józef K retzm ann, Jan  Jerzy Ku- 
nigk, M arquardt and R u n esiu s, M aciej M ontanus, J a n  R ucki (Rudzki), 
M ichał Siedler, P rzecisław  Szem borow ski, Szym on Treter and Euchard Zorn­
hausen , R eszel Canon Laurenty Fredler and Sątopy Canon Piotr F ilitz2 7 . 
The ex ten t to w hich scholarship funds continued to be aw arded in  the 19 th  
century rem ains unknow n, but the fact th a t they w ere listed  by the diocesan  
curia testifies  to their  significance.

In the first h a lf  of the 19 th  century, the scholarship schem e received  
a cash  injection from a tru st created by B ishop Andrzej S. H atten . The 
bishop  b eq ueathed  10,000 th a lers to scholarsh ips for you th s a tten d in g  
a secondary school in  B raniew o2 8 . F inancial support w as also provided by 
H enryk Schm ülling, principal of Braniewo’s secondary school in  1811-18272 9 .

B ishop Józef H ohenzollern funded three annual aw ards for Sem inary  
alum ni who delivered the b est serm ons. The stu d en ts o f Józef Scheill and  
Bernard B usse financed scholarships for the authors o f b est papers in  the  
subjects they  tau gh t30 .

Canon priest R udolf Borow ski (died in  1890) bequeathed 6,000 m arks in  
P ru ssian  bonds w ith  3.5% in terest to the d iocesan curia. The funds w ere to 
further the education  o f youths from the Borow ski fam ily as w ell as other  
students. The bequest w as officially approved by the P russian  governm ent in

outposts (including K ętrzyn, W ystruc, Bartoszyce). The legacy w as approved by th e  K onigsberg 
governm ent on 8 N ovem ber 1885 - G eheim es S ta a tsa rch iv  P reu ss isch e r K u ltu rb es itz  B erlin ­
-D a h lem  (GStA), HA, Rep. 76 IV, Sect. 2, Abt. XIX, No. 10, Bd. 1 S chenkungen  u n d  V erm ächt­
nisse  zu  G u n sten  des B ischöflichen S tu h ls  und  des D om kapitels von E rm lan d  1869-1930 (dated  
6 S ep tem ber an d  8 N ovem ber 1885).

26 For m ore inform ation , re fer to th e  su b ch ap te r on th e  academ ic s tud ies of W arm ia’s 
clergy. Cf. A. Kopiczko, Duchowieństwo katolickie diecezji w arm ińskiej w latach 1525-1821, p a rt 1, 
O lsztyn 2000, p. 152. A lis t of scho larsh ips for secondary  school s tu d en ts  w as developed by 
F ran c iszek  D ittrich  in  October 1906. The benefactors were: Paw eł D om inik D rom m ler, Andrzej 
S. H a tte n , J a n  Kreczm er, J a n  Je rzy  K unigk, M arcin  M üller, Jó ze f N eum ann , M ichał S id ler and 
K uhn, a  secu lar donor. -  AAWO, Scholarsh ip  req u est files.

27 Cf. AAWO, AB J  A 4 (14 A ugust 1837).
28 Z u m  A n d en ken  a n  A n d rea s S ta n is la u s  von H a tten , B isch o f von E rm land . F estschrift 

zu m  fü n fz ig jä h rig en  P riesterjub iläum  des H errn  P rä la ten  J o se f C arolus, B rau n sb e rg  1887, 
pp. 33-34 ; B.M. R osenberg, D as königliche u n d  staatliche G ym nasium  1811-1933, Z eitschrift 
fü r die G eschichte u n d  A ltertu m sk u n d e  E rm lands, 1966, Bd. 30, p. 547.

29 B.M. R osenberg, D as königliche u n d  staatliche G ym n a siu m  1811-1933, p. 547.
30 A. Kopiczko, D uchow ieństw o kato lickie diecezji w a rm iń skie j w la tach  1821-1945, p a r t  1: 

S tu d iu m  prozopograficzne , O lsztyn 2004, p. 111.
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a decision o f 25 June 188731 . In h is  w ill dated 27 M ay 1876, Canon priest 
Jan  Lingk bequeathed 6,600 m arks (in  m ortgage bonds w ith  4% interest) to 
a scholarship fund for Catholic students. The fund w as later expanded to 
include the bequest o f A ntoni Finck, the parish  priest o f M łynary3 2 . A ugust 
H erm ann, the parish  priest o f Kolno, donated 12,000 m arks to the construc­
tion  o f a church in  B artoszyce, an equal am ount to a scholarship fund for 
ta len ted  youths hoping to study theology and 4 ,000 m arks to the construc­
tion  o f a belfry clock in  Kolno33 . In 1861, canon priest Józef N aum an m ade  
a donation to secondary school stu d en ts from im poverished fam ilies in  
Braniewo and R eszel. Antoni Thiel funded a scholarship for secondary school 
stu d en ts in  B iskupiec, B raniew o and Dobre M iasto. S tud en ts also received  
financial support from Canon priests A ntoni E ichhorn, M ichał Krüger, Jan  
Lingk and M arcin M üller3 4 .

P arish  priests also donated funds and m ade bequests to students. The 
archpriest o f Dobre M iasto, father H erm an Preuschoff, bequeathed 3,000  
m arks to a boys’ school in  the city3 5 . The parish  priest o f Krosno, A ugust 
Schacht, contributed to the estab lish m en t o f a hom e econom ics school in  
O rneta in  1890.36 E ach year, dean Jan  W erm ter o f D zierzgoń personally  
financed F irst C om m union supplies for five children. Inspired by h is gener­
osity, B ishop Andrzej T hiel provided him  w ith  100 thalers to be spent on 
school children. D ean  W erm ter used  those funds to buy 40 books in  G erm an  
and 154 books in  P olish 3 7 . The Stipendium  W arm iense scholarship fund also 
catered to the needs o f school stu d en ts in  R eszel3 8 .

An organization supporting un iversity  stu d en ts w as founded 1885. In 
1900, it  had 120 m em bers who m ade annual contributions o f 3 m arks each. 
The organization  w as headed by Franciszek D ittrich  o f B raniew o39 .

A nnual grants w ere m ade as part o f the dos p u e lla ru m  (pro dote puel- 
la ru m ) tru st for girls from im poverished fam ilies. Initially, the tru st support­
ed two centers in  O lsztyn  and Frombork w hich w ere m erged on 8 Novem ber 
1833 and placed under the supervision  of the C athedral Chapter in  From-

31 GStA, HA, Rep. 76 IV, Sect. 2, Abt. XIX, No. 10, Bd. 1 S chenkungen  u n d  V erm ächtnisse 
zu  G u n s ten  des B ischöflichen S tu h ls  u n d  des D om kapitels von E rm lan d  1869-1930 (dated  
9 M ay and  25 Ju n e  1887).

32 Ibidem , d a ted  16 M arch 1889 an d  11 A pril 1889.
33 Ibidem , L ast w ill and  te s ta m en t d a ted  22 F eb ru a ry  1883.
34 Cf. A. Kopiczko, D uchow ieństw o katolickie diecezji w a rm iń skie j w la tach  1821-1945, 

p a r t  2: S ło w n ik , pp. 60, 154, 169, 189-190; G. M atern , Die katho lischen  W ohlthätigkeits-A nstal- 
ten u n d  -  Vereine sowie d a s  katholisch-soziale Vereinsleben in  d e r  D iözese E rm la n d , p. 49.

35 G. B eckm ann, Geschichte d er S ta d t  G uttstad t. F estschrift zu m  sechshundertjährigen  
S ta d tju b ilä u m  (neuere Zeit), G u tts ta d t 1929, p. 158.

36 F. Buchholz, B ild er aus W orm ditts Vergangenheit, 2nd ed., pp. 65-66 .
37 A. Szorc, Dzierzgoń. O d p oczą tku  do d n i naszych  1248-1998), Dzierzgoń 1998, p. 345; 

AAWO, AB JS  84, pp 91-92 .
38 AAWO, AK I W  21 (1882-1919).
39 G. M atern , Die ka tho lischen  W ohlthätigkeits-A nsta lten  u n d  -Vereine sowie da s k a th o ­

lisch-soziale Vereinsleben in  der Diözese E rm la n d ,  p. 50.
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bork. The tru st’s beneficiaries w ere C athedral H ill s ta ff m em bers and From ­
bork residents.

The chapter offered financial support to fire v ictim s. The Fonds für 
A bgebrannte (foundation for fire v ictim s w as created in  aid of th is  cause, and  
it  w as financed m ain ly  by the K räm era (K raem erische Stiftung) foundation. 
M ost contributions am ounted to 50 m arks, but h igher sum s w ere also do­
n ated40.

A t the turn o f the 19th and 20 th centuries, the G erm an church saw  the  
need to create an organization  th a t would consolidate and coordinate chari­
tie s  in  the fight aga in st progressing poverty. In 1879, its  efforts gave rise to 
the G erm an C aritas A ssociation  (C aritasverband) seated  in  Freiburg. On 23 
A ugust 1916, the C onvention o f G erm an B ishops proclaim ed the association  
the official representative o f the Catholic C aritas agency41.

The C aritas association  in  W arm ia w as estab lish ed  in  1906 under the  
nam e o f C aritasverband für die D iözese Erm land. The founding m eeting, 
held on 23 M arch 1906 at the H unting  Lodge in  K onigsberg, w as attended  by 
representatives o f a ll charity in stitu tion s in  the diocese. M eeting partici­
pants appointed the association’s first board w ith  the follow ing composition: 
Andrzej H inzm ann o f O rneta as the chairm an, Jerzy M atern o f Szalm ia  as 
the operating director, W ichert o f B raniew o as a secular treasurer, Bishop  
Andrzej Thiel as the honorary chairm an, followed by successive ordinaries42. 
The successive years w itn essed  only m inor changes in  the com position o f the  
diocese’s authorities. Jerzy M aterna w as replaced by A rtur K ather o f E lbląg  
in  1919, by Józef S teink i in  1924 and father A ugustyn  Scharnow ski in  1936. 
The board of the diocese had m inim um  12 m em bers. The chairm an and the  
director w ere appointed by the ordinary, w hereas parish  d ivisions w ere head­
ed by parochial vicars. The association  becam e responsible for nearly  all 
types of charity projects. C aritas worked w ith  parishes, charity in stitu tion s, 
associations and brotherhoods43. R elief centers w ere created around the  
country. K indergartens, g irls’ schools and organizations preparing girls for 
fam ily life w ere opened in  52 tow ns and cities. The association  refurbished  
hospitals, pensioner centers, it  organized holiday cam ps for children from  
im poverished fam ilies and the Ruhr B asin.

40 A. Kopiczko, Dzieje W arm ińskie j K a p itu ły  K atedralnej, p a r t  1: od 1821 roku, O lsztyn 
2010, pp. 52-53 .

41 J .  M ajka, C aritas, in: E ncyklopedia kato licka, vol. 2, L ub lin  1985, col. 1333.
42 O th er p ries ts  w ere also m em bers of th e  f irs t board , am ong th em  F ran c iszek  D ittrich , 

P aw el K ü ssn er, M a k sy m ilian  R e ich e lt a n d  F ra n c is z e k  Schulz. -  E rm lä n d isc h e  Z e itu n g , 
23 A ugust 1906; R. T raba, N iem cy-W arm iacy-P olacy , p. 116.

43 J .  S teinki, K atholische C aritas u n d  katholisches Vereinswesen in  der Diözese E rm la n d ,  
pp. 9-11.


